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Author’s Note

When writing about Black people individually or as a community, or about anything relating to them as a race, I’ve capitalized the word Black, in keeping with widely accepted practice since 2020. The word used in that sense was generally not capitalized in the era covered here, however, so I’ve left it lowercase when it appeared that way in source material.

Although the word Negro seems archaic today, it was commonplace at that time, and thus appears throughout this narrative in that context.

While I find the “N-word” as offensive as anyone, I believe that seeing how it was used in the past, by white people and also by Black people, is important to understanding our racial history. So that distasteful word does appear in this book, but only in quotations as originally uttered or written.

I’ve spelled nonviolent and nonviolence in the modern unhyphenated fashion, which was also used at the time by the Student Nonviolent Coordinating Committee. But if those words appeared with hyphens in quoted material, I’ve retained the hyphens.

Mark Whitaker

New York, NY

January 17, 2022






PROLOGUE DECEMBER 31, 1965 The Road to Black Power


In the middle of Alabama, U.S. Route 80, the highway that links Selma and Montgomery, narrows to two lanes as it passes through Lowndes County, deep in the former cotton plantation territory known as the Black Belt. For decades, the deadly reach of the Ku Klux Klan made this slender stretch of open road, surrounded by swamps and spindly trees covered with Spanish moss, one of the scariest in the South. During the historic civil rights march between those two cities in 1965, fewer than three hundred protesters braved the Lowndes County leg, whispering as they hurried through a rainstorm about rumors of bombs and snipers lurking out of sight. When the march ended, cars transporting demonstrators back to Selma drove as fast as they could through Lowndes County, without stopping.

One car didn’t make it. Viola Liuzzo was a thirty-nine-year-old mother of five from Detroit who had answered the Reverend Martin Luther King Jr.’s call for whites to join the Selma march. After it was over, she was helping drive marchers back from Montgomery along with a young Black volunteer named Leroy Moton. As the two headed back to Montgomery after a drop-off in Selma shortly after nightfall, a red-and-white Chevrolet Impala pulled alongside Liuzzo’s blue Oldsmobile on Route 80. A spray of bullets exploded into the driver’s side window, and the car careened off the road and into a ditch. Moton passed out, and when he came to Liuzzo was slumped lifeless on the bench front seat, her foot still on the accelerator. Moton raced through the darkness to report the attack—which, it would soon emerge, was carried out by four Alabama Klansmen, one of them a paid informant for the FBI.

Two days later, as newspapers across the country ran front-page updates on the murder of the first white woman to die in the civil rights struggle, five young Black organizers from the Student Nonviolent Coordinating Committee slipped unnoticed into Lowndes County on Route 80. The five were there to bring SNCC’s mission of voter registration to the county, an impoverished backwater with the largest percentage of Black residents in the state, but where not a single Black had cast a ballot in more than sixty years. The group’s leader was Stokely Carmichael, a lanky New Yorker with a long, angular nose and heavy-lidded but expressive eyes. His voice mixed the lilt of Trinidad, where he lived until age eleven; the urgency of the Bronx, where he spent his teens; and the polish of Howard University, the distinguished historically Black college from which Carmichael graduated. Over the next eight months, SNCC organizers proved successful enough that white farmers punished Black sharecroppers who registered to vote by evicting them from their land. So it was that, as the year 1965 ended, Carmichael and his comrades found themselves back along Route 80, erecting tents for displaced families while sharecroppers armed with hunting rifles kept watch for night-riding Klansmen.

On the second to last day of December, Carmichael was putting up tents on a six-acre plot that a local church group had purchased by the side of Route 80 when a blue Volkswagen Beetle drove up. A thin, mocha-skinned young Black man dressed in denim overalls stepped out of the car. Carmichael recognized Sammy Younge, a student at Alabama’s Tuskegee Institute who had become active in campus organizing. Over the previous year, Younge had participated in several SNCC protests, and the two men had become friends. But the last time Carmichael had seen the young collegian, at a birthday party Younge threw for himself in November, he had experienced a change of heart. Drunk on pink Catawba wine, Younge cornered Carmichael and confessed that he was through with activism and wanted to return to partying and preparing for a comfortable middle-class career. Younge “was high that night, and we had a talk,” Carmichael recalled. “He said he was putting down civil rights… and he was going to be out for himself…. So I told him, ‘It’s still cool, you know. Makes me no never mind.’ ”

Now Younge seemed eager to join the struggle again. “What’s happening, baby?” Carmichael said, greeting the student with his usual teasing ease. “I can’t kick it, man,” Younge said, referring to the organizing bug. “I got to work with it. It’s in me.” Carmichael chatted with Younge for several minutes, then invited him to stay overnight to help with the tent construction. The next day, Younge approached Carmichael again and confided a new dream. He wanted to attempt in Tuskegee’s Macon County what Carmichael was trying to do in Lowndes County: register enough Black voters so they could form their own political party and elect their own candidates to local offices.

In Carmichael’s territory, that fledgling party already had a name: the Lowndes County Freedom Organization (LCFO). It also had a distinctive nickname: the “Black Panther Party,” after a symbol that the LCFO had adopted to comply with an Alabama law requiring that political parties choose animal symbols that could be identified on ballots by voters who couldn’t read. “Well, all you have to do is talk about building a Black Panther Party in Macon County,” Carmichael counseled. “See how the idea will hit the people and break that whole TCA thing,” he added, dismissively referring to the Tuskegee Civic Association, a group of elders who had long claimed to speak for Macon County Blacks. Then Carmichael gave Younge a last word of encouragement. “My own feeling was that it would,” Carmichael recalled saying, before he watched Younge climb into his Volkswagen and drive back to Tuskegee.

Although neither Younge nor Carmichael knew it at that moment, they were both about to become major players—one, as a martyr; the other, as a leader and lightning rod—in the most dramatic shift in the long struggle for racial justice in America since the dawn of the modern civil rights era in the 1950s. Over the following year, the story would stretch from Route 80 in Lowndes County across the United States. It would unfold to the east, in that bastion of the Black privilege in Tuskegee; to the northeast, in SNCC’s home base of Atlanta; and due west, on another highway linking Memphis, Tennessee, and Jackson, Mississippi.

To the north, the story would involve a slum neighborhood of Chicago that the Reverend Martin Luther King Jr. would select as his next battlefront. Far to the west, two part-time junior college students from Oakland, California, would take inspiration from the black panther experiment in Alabama to launch a radical new movement of their own. After a decade of watching the civil rights saga play out in the South, a restless generation of Northern Black youth would demand their turn in the spotlight. Before the year 1966 was over, the story would alter the lives of a cast of young men and women, almost all under the age of thirty, who in turn would change the course of Black—and American—history.



IN THE STUDY OF THE seismic era known as the 1960s, numerous books have been devoted to individual years. In most cases, this approach has served to weave together different political and social threads that intersected throughout that remarkable decade. But this book will tell the story of the birth of Black Power through the framework of 1966 for more specific historical reasons. First, it was unquestionably the year when the movement as we remember it today took full form. In the spring of 1966, Stokely Carmichael assumed the helm of the Student Nonviolent Coordinating Committee and began to redirect SNCC’s focus from peaceful voter registration in the South to a far more sweeping and radical agenda that questioned nonviolence, mainstream politics, and white alliances. During the summer, Carmichael exchanged the defiant chant of “Black Power!” with a crowd in rural Mississippi in a scene that transfixed the media and made him a nationally recognized figure virtually overnight.

In the fall of 1966, Huey Newton and Bobby Seale conceived the “Ten Point Program” founding document of the leather-clad, gun-wielding Black Panther Party for Self-Defense that we remember today. Throughout the year, Dr. King fought an uphill battle to bring his nonviolent, integrationist strategy to Chicago, a flawed campaign that undercut the aura of success surrounding King’s more moderate agenda. In Georgia, Julian Bond, SNCC’s longtime communications director, waged a year-long battle to take a seat in the state legislature after he was banished for opposing the Vietnam War. For young Blacks across the country, it was a humiliating spectacle that deepened their cynicism about the prospects for achieving justice through the two-party political system.

While men received most of the press coverage for their roles in this drama, formidable women played key roles. In the same wild, all-night meeting that resulted in Stokely Carmichael ousting civil rights icon John Lewis as SNCC’s chairman, Ruby Doris Smith Robinson, a tough-minded Spelman College graduate, was elected to the number two position of executive secretary. Caught in the middle of one of the year’s most painful episodes—the expulsion of the last remaining whites from SNCC—was Dottie Miller Zellner, a white New York City native who was one of the group’s longest serving and most loyal staffers. Waiting offstage was Kathleen Neal, the daughter of a Black scholar from Texas who dropped out of Barnard College in 1966 to work for SNCC, the first step in a journey that would lead to her becoming a globally recognized name and face as the wife of Black Panther leader Eldridge Cleaver.

For millions of young Blacks, it was the point at which “Black Consciousness,” as they referred to it, became both a state of mind and a badge of identity. Students of language conventions identify 1966 as the year when Blacks in significant numbers began to reject the label “Negro.” Looking back on this period, Gene Roberts, the white “race beat” reporter for The New York Times, recalled fighting a running battle with his copy desk editors in Manhattan over his decision to stop using that term when referring to young Black militants. By summer, Ebony magazine, the monthly chronicle of Black trends and newsmakers, officially recognized the popularity of the Afro hairstyle with a cover story on “The Natural Look.” While almost all the Black Power leaders cited Malcolm X as an influence, it wasn’t until the middle of 1966, a year and half after Malcolm’s assassination, that his bracing words and powerful life story became known to Blacks and whites of all ages and incomes with the publication of the bestselling $1.25 paperback edition of his posthumous autobiography.

In 1966, the relatively new tools of modern polling captured an ominous turn in racial attitudes. Three years earlier, on the eve of the March on Washington, Newsweek magazine had commissioned pollster Louis Harris to conduct a groundbreaking opinion survey which showed evidence of a widening national belief in racial progress. But when Newsweek had Harris conduct another such poll in the summer of 1966, it registered a stark reversal. Half of Blacks said that change wasn’t happening fast enough, while 70 percent of whites complained that it was coming too fast. After watching TV news footage of another summer of urban race riots, two thirds of whites told Harris’s pollsters that they now opposed any form of Black protest, even nonviolent. “They’re asking too much all at once,” Sandra Styles, a twenty-three-year-old commercial artist from Arlington, Virginia, told a Newsweek reporter. “They should try the installment plan.”

That shift in public opinion, in turn, propelled a change in the political winds that would shape American life for the next half century. Two years after the Democratic Party under Lyndon Johnson had captured dominant control of all three branches of the U.S. government, a white “backlash vote” against Black Power and urban unrest produced huge gains for Republicans in the 1966 midterm elections and set the stage for Richard Nixon’s comeback law-and-order presidential campaign of 1968. In California, a riot in the Hunters Point neighborhood of San Francisco and an eleventh-hour uproar over a speech by Stokely Carmichael on the University of California at Berkeley campus helped elect Ronald Reagan as governor, putting Reagan on a path to win the White House and further remake the modern conservative movement. In Alabama, the appeal of an even more openly white supremacist brand of politics was demonstrated when George Wallace, the term-limited segregationist governor, encouraged his wife, Lurleen, to run in his place, and the total political novice won in a landslide.

As a narrative framework, focusing on the events of 1966 also makes it possible to reconstruct not just what happened, but how it happened. This book attempts to capture the rich and often messy way that this historic pivot unfolded “in real time,” to use a current expression. No doubt, the sort of broad social forces emphasized by academic historians played an important part. The insidious economic and structural racism of the North differed from the more overt Jim Crow racism of the South. The rising generation of young Northern Blacks didn’t share the religious and deferential traditions of their Southern elders.

Just as important, however, was the timing and sequence of events, and the role of happenstance, both fortunate and tragic. So was the personality of the key players, all of whom had compelling strengths but also conspicuous flaws. As was the case with the earlier civil rights era, white print and television reporters occupied a prominent place in the story. But this time, journalists weren’t welcome witnesses but bewildered outsiders looking on at an uprising that granted them little access and that they were ill-equipped to understand.

Although the Black Power movement continued to gather force and generate headlines into the 1970s, signs of the flameouts and power struggles that proved its eventual undoing were already apparent. For all his dashing good looks and irreverent charm, Stokely Carmichael by the end of 1966 had succumbed to the self-involvement and emotional fragility that would end his tenure as SNCC’s chairman after only one year. At the end of 1966, Eldridge Cleaver was just leaving prison after seven years. But already Cleaver’s jailhouse writings, published in Ramparts magazine and later collected in his bestselling book, Soul on Ice, showed a penchant for self-promotion and competitive egotism that would eventually lead to a destructive feud with Huey Newton after Cleaver joined the Black Panthers. Sensational press coverage of the Black Power phenomenon was already feeding poisonous jealousies, while the FBI was preparing to launch a new campaign of surveillance and dirty tricks that would cripple the movement from that point on.

Yet visible, too, were more positive and prophetic legacies that resonate to this day. The core of Carmichael’s original conception of Black Power—the idea of harnessing the clout of Black voters to elect Black officials in areas where Blacks represented a decisive percentage of the population—has since become manifest in cities and localities across America, and helped lay the groundwork for the nation’s first Black president. The initial mission of the Black Panther Party for Self-Defense—to monitor the way police dealt with Blacks in inner-city neighborhoods—looks prescient in the era of #BlackLivesMatter. Many of the tactics and symbols of the Black Power movement were borrowed or adapted, consciously or unconsciously, by the women’s liberation movement and the gay rights movement. Fifty years later, they find echoes even in elements of Trump-era white nationalism, and in roiling debates over the meaning and impact of so-called identity politics.

At the time, some of the best analytical writing about the Black Power movement came from two insightful white scholars: social critic Christopher Lasch and Eugene Genovese, the historian best known for showing how Blacks survived the horrors of slavery by creating their own private social structures. Lasch and Genovese both predicted that the revolutionary political aims of Black Power were bound to fail in a country where the militants, unlike their heroes in Cuba and China, could claim to speak for only a fraction of the Black minority, let alone the larger white majority. But the two scholars also perceived that Black Power spoke to a yearning beyond politics—for a new, distinctly Black culture to replace the one that millions left behind when they moved from the South to the North in the Great Migration of the early and mid-twentieth century. By the end of 1966, glimmers of that new culture could be seen in the first demands for Black Studies programs on college campuses, in the emerging Black Arts Movement, and in the first celebration of the new holiday tradition of Kwanzaa. A half century later, the cultural legacy of Black Power pervades our entire society in the innovations of hip hop music; in other Black aesthetic influences on art, fashion, sports, and language; and in heated debates over how to teach Black history, or whether to teach it at all.

By the end of 1966, much of the tumultuous story of Black Power had yet to be written. But it was already eerily foreshadowed, just as Sammy Younge’s fate was as he drove away from Lowndes County along Route 80 back toward Tuskegee on the eve of that New Year—the last time his friend Stokely Carmichael would see him alive.






PART 1






CHAPTER 1 JANUARY 3 A Murder in Tuskegee


When Sammy Younge left Tuskegee Institute on a late night run to buy a jar of mayonnaise and a pack of cigarettes on the first Monday of 1966, he didn’t expect his life to be in danger. Slender, long-necked, and baby-faced, Younge had the recognizably privileged look and manner of a child of the Black middle class, along with a winning smile and wide doe eyes that had attracted a succession of girlfriends by the time he was twenty-one. Sammy was not only a student at Tuskegee Institute but also a hometown boy. He had grown up in the small, stately Alabama city for which the school was named, a community of some two thousand whites and five thousand Blacks that prided itself on a reputation for racial harmony amidst the civil rights maelstrom raging in the Deep South.

Younge’s father, Samuel Leamon Younge Sr., was chief of occupational therapy at the city’s Veterans Administration Hospital. Born in Tuskegee, the elder Younge attended Talladega College, another historically Black Alabama school a two-hour drive to the north. There, he met Sammy’s mother, Renee, a fair-complexioned native of Charleston, South Carolina, who hailed from a long line of mixed-race “free people of color.” After a brief courtship, Samuel married Renee and took her back to Tuskegee. She found work as an elementary school teacher and they moved into the six-room red-brick house, several blocks from the Institute, where they raised two sons, Samuel Jr. and Stephen.

Members of Tuskegee’s tight-knit Black elite were brought up to believe that the key to survival in white America was to embrace the self-help philosophy of the Institute’s famous founder, Booker T. Washington. “Brains, prosperity and character for the Negro will settle the question of civil rights,” Washington declared shortly after the school opened in 1881, a view that put him at odds with W. E. B. Du Bois and other Black leaders who advocated a more frontal attack on racial injustice. To Washington, that meant getting educated at Black schools and entering Black trades and professions. For graduates of the Institute, it meant celebrating Tuskegee’s most renowned products, the Black airmen who fought Nazi pilots in the skies over Europe during World War II. For students and staff, it meant taking pride in the fictionalized description of the school as an oasis of “roads gracefully winding, lined with hedges and wild roses that dazzled the eyes in the summer sun” in Invisible Man, the acclaimed novel by one of the school’s most illustrious alumni, Ralph Ellison. In America’s Black newspapers, the Tuskegee elite were held up as examples to the race. Two years earlier, the Pittsburgh Courier had run a picture of Samuel L. Younge Sr. himself as he passed out collection envelopes for a Red Cross fund drive to a gathering of primly dressed hospital employees.

In this culture of Black middle-class conformity, Sammy Younge Jr. stuck out from his childhood days as a bit of an aimless soul. At the Catholic elementary school in town, he developed a reputation for playing hooky and “always getting into it with the Sisters,” a classmate named Laly Washington recalled. Sent to a prep school in Massachusetts for high school—a not uncommon privilege for well-off Black Tuskegee youth—Younge was suspended for buying beer off-campus. He returned home and graduated from Tuskegee Institute High School, where he spent much of his time hanging out with a thrill-seeking crowd who called themselves “the Unbelievables” and took ninety-miles-per-hour joyrides to Montgomery in the Younge family’s black Dodge sedan.

As graduation neared, Younge confessed to Laly Washington a sense that he was disappointing his parents. He said he was not “living up to what they wanted him to be,” as she put it, and was serving as a bad example for his little brother, Stevie. So as his classmates went off to college, Younge joined the Navy. But after a brief stint aboard an aircraft carrier patrolling the waters off Cuba, that plan was cut short, too. Younge began to suffer from a congenital ailment that caused him to have one kidney surgically removed and left the other partially damaged. He was granted an honorable medical discharge and went home to Tuskegee, where he enrolled at the Institute as a freshman in the spring term of 1965.

It was on the night of March 7 of that year that Younge began to find a sense of purpose as he and his classmates watched television news coverage of “Bloody Sunday,” the shocking scene of policemen tear-gassing and stampeding voting rights marchers as they tried to cross the Edmund Pettus Bridge out of Selma, Alabama. Among the victims, the Tuskegee students recognized John Lewis, the twenty-five-year-old Alabama native who had become chairman of the Student Nonviolent Coordinating Committee. Lewis had grown up in the small farming town of Troy, just an hour’s drive south of Tuskegee. His father, Eddie Lewis, was a sharecropper and part-time bus driver, and his mother, Willie Mae, took in laundry. From a young age, Lewis dreamed of becoming a preacher, and he practiced by reciting Bible verses and Sunday school lessons to the chickens he tended on the farm. In his last year of high school, his mother brought home a brochure from a small religious school in Nashville, Tennessee, called the American Baptist Theological Seminary that offered students free room and board in exchange for work on campus. Accepted to the school in 1957, Lewis discovered seminars on the philosophy and practice of nonviolence taught in a church basement by James Lawson, a Nashville minister who had studied the tactics of Mahatma Gandhi as a Methodist missionary in India.

In 1960, as the movement that began with Black college students integrating drugstore lunch counters in Greensboro, North Carolina spread to Nashville, Lewis seized the chance to put Lawson’s teaching into practice. He became a leader of the Nashville sit-in movement and signed up for the first Freedom Rides that sent young protesters south on buses to test the enforcement of federal laws banning segregation at public depots and rest stations. After a convoy of Freedom Riders was savagely attacked in Birmingham, Alabama, Lewis joined a second wave that made its way to Montgomery, where another mob descended and Lewis was knocked bloody and unconscious by a blow to the head with an empty Coca-Cola crate. After a Black cab driver took Lewis for treatment by a local Black doctor, Lewis rejoined the Freedom Riders, who made their way to Jackson, Mississippi, where scores were arrested and sent to a notorious state prison known as Parchman Farm.

By 1963, Lewis had gone to jail dozens of times and become legendary within the Black student protest movement for his moral and physical courage, a bravery made all the more conspicuous by his quiet manner and slight, five-feet-five-inch build. When one of the first chairmen of SNCC, Charles “Chuck” McDew, abruptly quit that summer, the fledgling group summoned Lewis from Nashville and chose him by acclamation to take McDew’s place. Lewis assumed that role just in time to represent SNCC at the March on Washington. On the steps of the Lincoln Memorial, he delivered a speech that became famous for its call for “one man, one vote,” but also notorious among SNCC’s rank and file when march organizers pressured Lewis to take out language criticizing the administration of President John F. Kennedy for offering “too little, too late” in its proposed civil rights legislation.

Although SNCC had started the 1965 voting rights campaign in Selma, at the last minute its members voted to boycott the march to Montgomery in protest over what they saw as the unnecessary risk of violence and the way that the Southern Christian Leadership Conference, the older civil rights group led by Martin Luther King Jr., had taken over strategy and planning. Lewis chose to join the Sunday march anyway, and he was at the front of the procession, wearing a tan raincoat and a collegiate backpack, when he was approached by a TV reporter for comment. “We’re marching today to dramatize to the nation and to dramatize to the world the hundreds of thousands of Negro citizens who are denied the right to vote,” Lewis said. Then, with the TV cameras still rolling, a phalanx of blue-uniformed Alabama state troopers, their faces covered with gas masks, advanced on the six hundred marchers and ordered them to retreat. Instead, the protesters began to kneel in prayer. Hurling tear gas, the troopers shoved violently into the marchers and knocked Lewis to the ground. A trooper struck him on the head with a nightstick as police horses thundered overhead. “I thought I was going to die on that bridge,” Lewis recalled. But unlike the beatings Lewis had suffered in the past, this one was witnessed by some 48 million Americans on national television, thanks to a CBS Special Report and other TV coverage of the attack.



THE DAY AFTER BLOODY SUNDAY, Sammy Younge joined more than a hundred outraged Tuskegee students who turned out for a hastily convened meeting of a campus activist group called the Tuskegee Institute Advancement League (TIAL). The group voted to send a delegation to the state capitol in Montgomery with a petition condemning the Selma attack. Younge was chosen to raise transportation funds, and he threw himself into the task with newfound passion. He went from dorm to dorm with a plastic bucket and collected $1,200 in just a few days, enough to pay for several buses to bring students to the capitol that Wednesday morning.

On Tuesday, Dr. King led another procession to the Pettus Bridge in Selma, but then ordered a retreat in the face of armed police assembled on the other side. After what become known as “Turnaround Tuesday,” King declared a temporary halt as a lawsuit was filed to lift a city injunction against the march. Hearing about the stand-down order in Selma, the Tuskegee students voted to proceed with their trip to Montgomery anyway. Before dawn the next day, seven hundred boarded buses for the forty-mile drive west to the Alabama capital, clutching paper bags packed with bologna sandwiches and apples.

If the students appeared on their way to “a picnic,” as TIAL president Gwen Patton described the departure, the first day in Montgomery became more like a soggy encampment. When the group arrived at the capitol building, they discovered that George Wallace, Alabama’s segregationist governor, had no intention of coming outside to accept their petition. The students also hadn’t bargained on the antipathy of conservative Black ministers who denied them access to their churches to use the bathrooms. Stuck outside all afternoon, the students resorted to forming walls of picket signs to surround anyone who needed to answer nature’s call. Later they jokingly referred to the demonstration “the toilet revolution.” As darkness fell, so did a steady rain, and all but some sixty students drove back to Tuskegee rather than face a sleepless night out in the cold.

After being inspired to go to Montgomery by the attack on John Lewis, the Tuskegee protesters encountered SNCC’s second-in-command, executive secretary James Forman, when they arrived at the capitol. A heavyset man with bushy, unkempt hair and an utterly haphazard style of dress, Jim Forman, as he was known to everyone, was thirty-six years old and had come to his activism by a more circuitous route than most of his younger comrades. Born in Chicago, Forman was sent as an infant to live in rural northern Mississippi with a grandmother he knew as “Mama Jane” and whose four-room house had no electricity, indoor plumbing, or even an outhouse. He was given his first reading lessons at home by his Aunt Thelma, a schoolteacher, and didn’t begin formal education until the second grade, after he moved back to Chicago to live with his mother, Octavia, and her husband, a man named James Rufus. Only years later did Forman learn that his birth father was a jitney cab driver named Jackson Forman who sometimes stopped to refuel his taxi at the gas station run by his stepfather.

A bright but restless student, Forman struggled to fit in as he bounced from a Catholic elementary school to a public high school, then to a vocational school and a stressful three-year stint in the segregated Air Force. Discharged from the military, he enrolled at the University of Southern California in Los Angeles, where he was falsely accused of robbery, beaten by a white prison officer, and briefly hospitalized for a psychological breakdown. Only after returning to Chicago did Forman start to find a sense of mission as he enrolled at Roosevelt University, a haven for Black military veterans. He became student body president and a disciple of the distinguished Black sociologist St. Clair Drake. Further graduate study at Boston University convinced Forman that he wanted to become involved in the civil rights movement, and after the federal government intervened to force the desegregation of high schools in Little Rock in 1957, he headed south to organize in Arkansas.

In 1961, Forman was helping poor Blacks register to vote in southern Tennessee when he came to the attention of the sit-in leaders who had started SNCC and Ella Baker, the veteran civil rights leader who had encouraged them to form their own organization of college-age students and recent graduates. Forman was hired for the job of creating a proper headquarters for the nascent network of field organizers, and he proved to possess a unique talent for administration. Moving to Atlanta and taking over SNCC’s first office in a tiny room on Auburn Avenue, Forman created a payroll and bookkeeping system and began hiring a staff. He formed a communications department to deal with the press and a research operation to dig up property records and other documents that could assist organizers as they went into Klan-infested rural areas. “Write it down,” became Forman’s watchword as he demanded that visiting fieldworkers produce affidavits memorializing all of their activities. He also enforced a code of strict egalitarianism, insisting that no job was too small for anyone at SNCC. Any volunteer, Black or white, who showed up at the Atlanta headquarters expecting to be sent immediately into the field would instead be handed a broom, then watch as Forman himself pitched in to sweep the floors and mop the bathroom.



AFTER SNCC VOTED TO PULL out of the 1965 march from Selma, Jim Forman decided to head straight to Montgomery and organize a separate demonstration at the capitol. When he learned that the Tuskegee contingent had arrived in Montgomery as well, he saw an opportunity to combine the two protests and instruct the students in the discipline of nonviolent protest. “Everybody sit down,” Forman shouted when police protecting the capitol went into V-formation and seemed ready to attack. In the middle of the night, he persuaded one of the uncooperative Black churches to open its doors and allow the students to come out of the rain and sleep on a concrete basement floor.

When Forman first observed Sammy Younge among the students outside the capitol, he didn’t know what to make of him. “In the early part of the day, he was an amorphous personage to me,” Forman recalled. Forman also had no idea that Younge was also a military veteran who was missing a kidney and taking a unique health risk by spending the night out in the rain. The next morning, as Forman saw Younge board a bus back to Tuskegee, he was disappointed. “I’m going to try to get students on the campus to come back here,” Younge said, “because we have to have a unified student body.” Forman shrugged and murmured, “Okay man,” assuming that he would never see the earnest college boy again.

But Younge made good on his promise. As the Montgomery protest stretched into the following week, he returned several times, bringing reinforcements and impressing Forman with his efforts to boost morale and maintain order. The following Tuesday, Younge helped SNCC organizers assemble more than a thousand demonstrators to picket the capitol again. In a scene reminiscent of Bloody Sunday, mounted police stampeded the protesters and flayed them with long sticks designed to have a wider reach and nastier sting than billy clubs.

Other SNCC leaders took notice of Younge. One was Willie Ricks, a short, moon-faced Georgia native with a rousing speaking delivery and a pioneering fashion sense. Ricks was known for wearing dark sunglasses and all-black slacks and shirts at a time most SNCC organizers still favored blue jeans and denim jackets. He was also a hard man to impress. “Mr. Say ain’t the man, Mr. Do is the man,” Ricks liked to say, expressing his disdain for civil rights workers who talked big but didn’t work hard in the trenches. Ricks recalled how Younge was “baptized” in the struggle in Montgomery, and turned out to be one of only “five or ten out of hundreds” committed enough to “take it beyond the marches.”

Younge also caught the eye of Stokely Carmichael, the rangy, irreverent New Yorker who was spearheading a drive to register voters and organize a new independent political party in the Black Belt of Alabama. As a graduate of Howard University, the prestigious historically Black college in Washington, D.C., Carmichael knew all about the Negro elite. He marveled that Younge, as “a good-looking cat” with expensive clothes and his own car, was willing to jeopardize his “big man on campus” status for the sake of his political convictions. “He was isolated—you know, the same shit everybody goes through in the Negro college campuses,” as Carmichael put it, with his glib sense of humor, in describing how Younge’s activism was seen by many of his peers at the Tuskegee Institute. “He told them, fuck it, he was going with SNCC.”

In the months after the protest in Montgomery, Sammy Younge became one of the most visible activists on the Tuskegee campus. Putting away his preppy sports coats and polished loafers, he dressed in denim overalls and his old Navy boots, and wore a puffy railroad engineer’s cap over his long, loose curls. Friends noticed a change in the way he talked—with “a little hum in his voice at the end of a sentence, like a preacher,” recalled Tuskegee classmate Ruby Taylor. Younge organized a picket of a local A&P supermarket that refused to offer summer jobs to Black students. He led a protest to demand use of the city swimming pool, prompting whites to throw manure into the water and crushed glass onto the diving board. Town officials shut down the pool, then claimed that they didn’t have enough money to clean and reopen it. Later in the summer, Younge and other TIAL leaders tried to integrate three white churches. When five hundred Black students gathered at a Methodist church one Sunday, a white mob attacked them. A local café owner and suspected member of the Ku Klux Klan made a special point of chasing after Younge, thrusting a .32 caliber pistol into the tender side of his stomach where his kidney had been removed.

Yet when Younge returned to school in the fall of 1965, he appeared to lose interest in the struggle and typed out a letter of resignation from the TIAL. He dusted off his tweed jackets and spent most of the semester partying. One classmate remembered him climbing onto a dorm fire escape and serenading passing girls with Smokey Robinson tunes. Some friends attributed the change to the bomb threats that Younge’s parents received as result of his activism. Others thought he might be afraid for his fragile health after his first stint in jail, while registering voters in a nearby Lee County. But others concluded that “the Tuskegee system got to him,” as a classmate named George Ware put it, and that Younge didn’t want to jeopardize a comfortable future in the Black middle class.

After moving off-campus in November, Younge threw himself a twenty-first birthday party and invited Carmichael. That was when he drunkenly confessed to his older friend that he was “putting down civil rights” because his privileged friends on campus made fun of him for working with SNCC. “I told him I thought there would be some people who would do that,” Carmichael recalled, “but as far as I was concerned, we could still drink wine any time.”

Only once during this fall period did Younge’s desire to organize resurface—after Jonathan Daniels’s killer was acquitted. Daniels was a young white seminarian from New Hampshire who had come south for the Selma march and become friendly with Stokely Carmichael. “We had some real good talks,” Carmichael recalled of Daniels. “He was shocked and pained by the racism, injustice, and poverty he was seeing. And he really seemed interested in black culture.” In August, Carmichael invited Daniels to participate in a protest in Fort Deposit, Alabama, against a storekeeper who was blocking voter registration efforts. The two were arrested for disturbing the peace and sent to the county jail in Hayneville with twenty other protesters. Carmichael posted bond so that he could raise bail money for the rest of the prisoners. He didn’t witness what happened two weeks later when the others were released without explanation.

While some of the freed protesters searched for a phone to call for transportation, others went to a nearby grocery store to buy soda pop. As they approached, Tom Coleman, a local highway worker and part-time sheriff’s deputy, stepped out of the store with a shotgun. Daniels moved to shield a seventeen-year-old Tuskegee student named Ruby Sales who was part of the group. Coleman opened fired, killing Daniels and wounding a Catholic priest from Chicago named Richard Morrisroe. Less than two months later, an all-white jury acquitted Coleman of murder charges after only two hours of deliberation, and the next day he was back playing dominoes in front of the courthouse where the trial took place. When word of the verdict reached Tuskegee, Sammy Younge was so upset that he rounded up a group of students to march into town in protest. Then he placed a coffin in the middle of the campus accompanied by a sign that read “Alabama Justice.”



SHORTLY BEFORE CHRISTMAS, YOUNGE TOLD friends that he was ready to plunge back into civil rights work. A week later, he was in Lowndes County, helping Carmichael put up the tents for the evicted Black sharecroppers who had registered to vote. When Younge returned to Tuskegee, he told friends about his dream of organizing a new independent Black political party, just as Carmichael was doing. He said he planned to start by registering as many new voters as possible in the surrounding rural areas, then to call a meeting to propose the idea of forming a Black Panther Party in Macon County.

In Alabama, voter registration offices opened for business only twice a month—one of the many obstacles the state had put in place to keep Blacks from participating in elections. The first Monday of 1966, January 3, was one of those dates, so Sammy Younge made plans to spend the day at the Macon County courthouse in downtown Tuskegee helping applicants fill out forms. When scores of Black citizens showed up at the courthouse, an elderly registrar tried to make them go away. The registrar said he was busy purging the voting rolls, or removing names of county residents who had died or moved way. When Younge protested and demanded to know the man’s name, the registrar threatened to call the sheriff and pulled out a red and yellow pocket knife. “I’ll take this knife and cut your guts out,” the old man threatened. “Spill your guts all over the floor.”

Retreating to a nearby diner, Younge found a pay phone and called SNCC headquarters in Atlanta. He asked workers there to notify the Justice Department, which under the new Voting Rights Act of 1965 was charged with preventing the kind of obstructionism exhibited by the ornery registrar. By the time Younge got back to the courthouse, an FBI agent had appeared, and he questioned everyone involved in the standoff. Under orders, the registrar began to cooperate, and Younge stayed at the courthouse registering new Black voters until he finished shortly after five in the afternoon.

A friend had invited Younge to a party that night, so he went to a liquor store to buy wine. The festivities started around eight in the evening and grew more animated as the night went on. Someone started playing bongo drums, and Younge danced with abandon. As more people arrived and food ran out, Younge and his latest girlfriend went out to buy pork chops and bread. When the meat was gone, someone found cans of tuna, but there was no mayonnaise to make sandwiches. So Younge volunteered to go out again, this time alone, and also agreed to pick up a pack of cigarettes for a partygoer who had run out.

At roughly a quarter to midnight, Younge pulled his blue Volkswagen Beetle into the Standard Oil service station in downtown Tuskegee. The station was a block from the Macon County courthouse where he had spent the day, with its century-old bell tower and decorative gargoyles. Outside the courthouse stood a granite statue of an infantryman in a gray uniform and crumpled hat—the sort of Confederate army memorial that could be found all over the South, recasting the Civil War as a noble Lost Cause battle for states’ rights. Near the gas station was a Greyhound bus depot, and in between was an alley where four Black students sat inside a car that one of them had borrowed from his father for the night.

Parking his car on the street, Younge entered the gas station and approached the attendant, a frail-looking sixty-eight-year-old with a jutting chin and a beaklike nose named Marvin Segrest.

“I want to use the restroom,” Younge said.

Segrest pointed to a bathroom outside, behind the station.

Younge said he wanted to use the public restroom inside the station.

Reaching below the counter, Segrest pulled out a .38 caliber silver pistol.

Younge asked if he could at least fill his car up with gas.

“No, just leave and don’t come back,” Segrest snapped.

As Younge exited the station, and went toward his car, Segrest pursued him, waving the gun.

“Come back over onto my property,” the attendant called out when Younge reached the street.

“No, you can’t shoot me from here,” Younge shouted back. “You can’t see me.”

Ducking behind the car, Younge watched as Segrest attempted to take aim in the darkness. A bag of golf clubs lay nearby, waiting to be loaded onto a Greyhound bus that was pulling into the depot. Younge grabbed a club from the bag and ran toward the bus as Segrest fired and missed. “I’m going to get on the bus,” Younge called out. “Come on the bus and shoot me.”

Hoping to defuse the situation, the bus driver stepped down and tried to talk sense to Segrest. “You shouldn’t shoot that boy,” the driver said. “If you do, there’s going to be trouble for you and everybody.” Temporarily reassured, Younge came out of the bus as it pulled away. He went in the direction of his car, but before he crossed the alley Segrest fired another bullet that struck Younge just below his left eye. He slumped forward, his knees grazing the pavement before he rolled sideways onto his back.

A half an hour later, the phone rang at the home of Eldridge Burns, another Tuskegee student activist who lived with his parents off-campus. Burns had gone to sleep, and his mother picked up. “Sammy’s been shot,” the caller blurted. Awakened, Burns went to the Younge home near campus, and found Stevie Younge in hysterics. “They killed my brother,” Stevie cried. “The white man got him.” When Burns arrived at the Standard Oil station, several policeman were gathered, but no one could find Younge. Then a cab carrying another student activist pulled up, and the driver pointed to a shadowy figure in the alleyway. “What’s that body doing over there?” the cabbie asked.

As the group approached the alley, they found a gruesome sight. Younge was sprawled face-up on the pavement, one arm across his chest and the other stretched out to his side. A pool of blood stretched all the way from the back of his head, where Segrest’s bullet had entered under his eye, past the bottom of his shoes. More blood oozed from Younge’s face, across his eyebrows, and down his chin. Next to the body lay the golf club Younge had grabbed outside the Greyhound bus. The white grip of the club was visible, but the shaft disappeared into the dark red puddle surrounding Younge’s lifeless frame.



THE MURDER OF SAMMY YOUNGE Jr. that January night would be remembered, if it was remembered at all, as a footnote in most accounts of the civil rights struggle. President Lyndon Johnson made no mention of the case, as he had when two white civil rights sympathizers, James Reeb and Viola Liuzzo, were killed in Alabama the year before. Although The New York Times ran a front-page story on Younge’s death by Gene Roberts, the Atlanta-based reporter covering the civil rights beat, most other newspapers around the country picked up a perfunctory United Press International wire service account that described Segrest as a “nice, quiet old man.” Eleven months later, an all-white jury reached the same conclusion when Segrest went on trial. The defense argued that Younge had been rude to the old man on several previous visits to the gas station. “I’m going to kill him,” Segrest told one witness that night. “He has harassed and deviled me all year, and I am sick and tired of it.” After only seventy-one minutes, the jury took pity on Segrest and acquitted him of second degree murder.

Within Black America, however, the news of Sammy Younge’s murder reverberated through a generation of young people who were reaching a breaking point of frustration with the gospel of nonviolence and racial integration preached by Dr. King. For Jim Forman, it added to a sense of despair and burnout that would soon lead him to pull back from his role at SNCC, opening the way for its takeover by younger, more radical leaders. Forman was in New York City on a fundraising trip when he heard a bulletin on the city’s all-news radio station, WINS, about the killing of an Alabama civil rights activist named Sammy Younge Jr. Forman cursed under his breath, then phoned SNCC headquarters for confirmation and learned that the funeral was scheduled for the next day in Tuskegee.

As Forman flew to Atlanta to rendezvous with SNCC colleagues, he thought of other young Black men who had been wantonly murdered, only to have their white killers go free. His mind went to Emmett Till, the fourteen-year-old Chicago boy lynched while visiting his grandparents in Mississippi, after he was accused of flirting with the wife of a white shop owner. Forman thought of Mack Charles Parker, another military veteran, who was shot by a white mob and thrown off Louisiana’s Pearl River Bridge after being falsely charged with raping a white woman. Forman recalled having the premonition, in that first week of the January, that “the year 1966 was going to be decisive, a turning point. I felt we were not going to remain tactically non-violent too much longer.”

By the time Forman arrived at SNCC headquarters, he had lost the heart to see another young Black man in a coffin. “Cleve, I just don’t want to go, I can’t make it,” he confided to Cleveland Sellers, SNCC’s program secretary. “I’m just tired of going to funerals for civil-rights people.” Sellers insisted that Forman had to show his face in Tuskegee, that it was his duty as SNCC’s executive secretary. They set out on the two-hour drive from Atlanta with Stanley Wise, another young SNCC leader who like Stokely Carmichael had joined the organization as a student at Howard University. “That could be you,” Forman recalled thinking as he stood over Younge’s open casket the next day. In the pouring rain, the SNCC men followed Younge’s family to a hillside graveyard. Tears in his eyes, Forman plucked a handful of fern leaves and threw them onto the casket as Younge’s body was lowered into the muddy ground.

By 1966, Cleve Sellers was part of a SNCC faction that wanted to see the organization take a stand against the U.S. escalation in Vietnam. With the murder of Younge, a Navy veteran, this group saw an opportunity to force the issue. “The absolute absurdity of a man having to die for attempting to do something as basically human as using a toilet filled us with rage,” Sellers recalled. “SNCC’s members could not help recognizing the gross contradictions between the freedom that Americans were killing and dying for in Vietnam and the race hatred that motivated Younge’s murder. The fact that Sammy was a veteran made his death all the more galling.” After the shooting, the antiwar faction drafted a statement and persuaded SNCC chairman John Lewis to issue it at a press conference three days later. A year before Dr. King would deliver a famous antiwar speech at Riverside Church in New York City, the statement made SNCC the first civil rights group to come out publicly against the Vietnam conflict.

In tone as well as substance, the Vietnam statement marked a stark departure. Instead of familiar civil rights appeals to the Bible and the U.S. Constitution, it rang with the new language of international human rights. The statement was drafted by Gloria Larry, an elegant, French-speaking graduate of the University of California at Berkeley who came to Alabama in 1965 to work in a SNCC school for Black youngsters in Selma. Introduced to Carmichael, Larry was smitten by his dashing looks and roguish charm. They became close, and he invited her to join his voter registration campaign in Lowndes County. Larry had studied abroad in Paris, where she befriended young Africans battling French rule and embraced their anticolonial worldview. “Sammy Younge was murdered because U.S. law is not being enforced,” she wrote in the SNCC antiwar statement. “Vietnamese are being murdered because the United States is pursuing an aggressive policy in violation of international law. The U.S. is no respecter of persons or laws when such persons or laws run counter to its need and desires.” Further on, Larry added an expression of “sympathy… for men in this country who are unwilling to respond to a military draft.” As it would turn out, that nod to the draft resistance movement that was beginning to sweep Berkeley and other American college campuses would make far more news than anything else in SNCC’s antiwar statement.

Sammy Younge was also the first Black activist to be killed while still enrolled in college. News of his murder less than a mile from the Tuskegee campus hit home with Black students, particularly children of the middle class. In the following weeks, thousands of them, many for the first time, marched in protest in Tuskegee and at numerous other historically Black colleges across the South. For friends who knew Younge personally, grief was compounded by indignation when word got out about what his killer, Marvin Segrest, was telling authorities. Segrest tried to make it sound as though Younge was drunk and out of control, rather than standing up for his rights. “Call him nigger, send him to the back, he wasn’t going,” Younge’s friend Eldridge Burns fumed, imagining what unfolded between Younge and Segrest at the filling station. “He was going to sit up there and tell you he wasn’t a nigger. You treat him like a man.”

In New York City, news of the murder reached Kathleen Neal, a childhood friend of Younge’s who came to know him when her father, a sociology professor from Texas, accepted a position at the Tuskegee Institute. Neal recalled that her father was the kind of cultivated Black man who “wanted his children to grow up knowing nothing about racial prejudice” and that he viewed Tuskegee an “ideal community” in that respect. From Alabama, the Neal family moved to Asia, where her father worked for the Foreign Service and Neal blossomed into a distinctively attractive teen with honey skin and wide-set, piercing blue eyes. Returning to America, she finished high school at George School, a private Quaker academy in Pennsylvania, and then enrolled at Oberlin College in Ohio, which her parents picked for her because of its long tradition of educating Blacks and women.

Neal found college boring after her years of traveling the globe, and she dropped out of Oberlin and moved to Washington, D.C. She took a job as a secretarial assistant at the Community Relations Service, a new agency designed to support Black urban neighborhoods launched under the 1964 Civil Rights Act. When Neal’s parents nagged her to go back to college, she applied for transfer to Barnard College in New York City. But after hearing the news of Sammy Younge’s murder just as the spring semester was about to begin, Neal left Barnard and starting working full-time for SNCC—the first step in an odyssey that would soon lead her to a radical new life under the married name of Kathleen Cleaver.

One more friend of Sammy Younge’s was shaken by his death in a way that carried omens for the future. Stokely Carmichael was in Lowndes County when he got a phone call with the news in the middle of the night. Carmichael was told that a protest rally was planned in Tuskegee the following morning, and that everyone expected him to be there. But instead, the normally swaggering picture of self-confidence suffered what an Army therapist who later interviewed him for a draft physical characterized as an episode of psychological “decompensation”—otherwise known as a nervous breakdown. Carmichael thought back to his intimate conversations with Younge. His mind filled with memories of Jonathan Daniels, the white seminary student who was killed after Carmichael invited him to a protest. Carmichael recalled the long car ride to New Hampshire for Daniels’s funeral, and how he broke down crying when he met Jonathan’s parents. Overcome by feelings of guilt and depression, Carmichael couldn’t bring himself to go to Tuskegee and rally its grieving community. “I didn’t have any strength, man,” he admitted later, “so I got me three bottles of wine and drank one for me and one for Sammy and one for Jonathan Daniels.”






CHAPTER 2 JANUARY 10 Humiliated in Atlanta


Three days after Sammy Younge’s murder, Julian Bond returned to his desk at SNCC headquarters in Atlanta to find a message from a twenty-five-year-old local radio reporter named Ed Spivia. Spivia wanted to get Bond’s comment on the statement that chairman John Lewis had issued in the wake of Younge’s killing condemning the U.S. escalation in Vietnam. Velvet-voiced and boyishly handsome, with a formal style of dress and speech that cloaked a mischievous wit and a dreamy love of writing poetry, Bond was accustomed to talking with the white press as SNCC’s director of communications. But Spivia was contacting him in another capacity. The previous June, Bond had won a race to represent an Atlanta district in Georgia’s House of Representatives, and he was scheduled to take his seat the next week. At Lewis’s press conference, reporters asked him where Bond stood on the war, and Lewis said he couldn’t speak for his colleague. So the enterprising radio reporter was calling to inquire directly: Did Bond agree with Lewis on Vietnam?

Bond had played no role in drafting the antiwar statement, and was attending a meeting at the local YMCA at the time of Lewis’s press briefing. Still, he called Spivia back and earnestly answered his questions. “Yes, I do,” Bond repeated as Spivia twice asked him to confirm on the record that he endorsed the Vietnam statement. “I’m not taking a stand against stopping world communism, and I’m not taking a stand in favor of the Viet Cong,” he explained. “What I’m saying is that, first, that I don’t believe in that war, that particular war.” Then Bond went a step further. “I’m against all war,” he said. “Because I’m against war, I’m against the draft.”

Spivia bore down. Would Bond be willing to burn his own draft card? he asked. No, Bond ventured, he wouldn’t do so personally, and he wouldn’t encourage anyone else to. But he added that he thought how to protest the war should be “up to the individual,” and that he respected anyone willing to accept the consequences of such a public step. “I would admire the courage of anyone who burns his draft card,” Bond said.

Only days shy of his twenty-sixth birthday, Julian Bond was thoughtful beyond his years but still a political novice, and his guileless response to the persistent radio reporter betrayed both qualities. Known by his middle name, Horace Julian Bond was christened after his father, Horace Mann Bond, a distinguished educator who came from a long line of Black teachers and ministers. When Julian was five, his father was named president of Lincoln University, a historically Black college outside Philadelphia, and the family moved into a stately white house in the city’s suburbs. For high school, Bond went to George School, the nearby Quaker academy that Kathleen Neal would later attend. As the school’s only Black student at the time, he found it a lonely and sometimes insulting experience. After Bond began dating a white girl, a dean instructed him not to wear his varsity jacket when the couple left campus. But it was at George School, studying Quakerism’s nonviolent teachings, that Bond discovered pacifism, the principled position reflected in his statement to Spivia that he was “against war.”

After his father became a dean of Atlanta University, Bond enrolled at Morehouse College, where he majored in English and joined the civil rights movement. He participated in the lunch counter protests that swept the South in 1960, then served as one of the first volunteers for SNCC, the student-led organization that grew out of those sit-ins. In his last semester, Bond dropped out of Morehouse without earning a degree to take a job as a sportswriter for a local Black newspaper. He began to moonlight as SNCC’s communications director, a part-time job that in time became permanent. With little stomach for the dangers of field organizing, Bond was happy to interact with the press and to edit the SNCC newspaper, where he occasionally published his own poems. (“I, too, hear America singing,” began one of them, borrowing from Walt Whitman, “But from where I stand/I can only hear Little Richard/And Fats Domino…”) Already married, with a baby at home, Bond also needed the $85 a month that came with the job, which was the highest salary on SNCC’s meager payroll.

In 1965, a Supreme Court ruling created eight new legislative districts in heavily Black areas across Georgia, and a record twenty-three Black candidates jumped into the race. At first, Bond had to be convinced that he was the right person to run in the new 136th District, an impoverished Black neighborhood in southeast Atlanta. Not only was Bond middle-class; he was so elite-looking that Royal Crown Cola had once hired him to model for an advertising poster. But his SNCC colleague Ivanhoe Donaldson convinced Bond that his clean-cut image was precisely what was needed to win over older Black voters. After SNCC offered to pay a $500 entry fee, Bond announced his candidacy and overcame his natural reserve to stump door-to-door. That June, he beat two older Black candidates with 82 percent of the vote and the highest turnout of any assembly race in the state.

Despite that political initiation, Bond was utterly unprepared for the furor that erupted over his Vietnam remarks. “Defiance of Draft Call Urged by SNCC Leader,” read the front-page headline in the next day’s Atlanta Constitution, the city’s top morning newspaper, under the byline of veteran political reporter Bill Shipp. Instead of focusing on the news that SNCC had come out against the war, Shipp highlighted the draft card controversy. He quoted Bond as saying he would “admire the courage” of card burners without including his caveat about their having to face the consequences. Incensed by the news reports, Georgia’s governor, lieutenant governor, and dozens of state lawmakers condemned Bond by the end of the day. A downstate Republican named Jones Lane vowed to prevent Bond from taking his legislative seat. This “is not because of race,” Lane fumed. “It is because of un-American attitude.”

Not recognizing the severity of Bond’s predicament at first, older civil rights leaders were slow to come to his defense. Roy Wilkins, the imperious president of the National Association for the Advancement of Colored People, put out a statement insisting that Lewis and Bond didn’t speak for “what is loosely called the civil rights movement” in denouncing the war and condoning draft resistance. Pressed for comment while on vacation in California, Dr. King, a pacifist himself, made only vague statements about the right to free speech. In Georgia, those tepid remarks provided cover for influential white moderates. Atlanta Constitution publisher Eugene Patterson, a civil rights supporter who had condemned the 1963 Birmingham church bombing in which four young Black girls died, and resisted FBI efforts to publish dirt about King’s infidelities, wrote a scathing editorial. “The lost faith in America that was reflected in the SNCC fulminations does not reflect Negro thought,” Patterson assured his readers.

By Sunday night, it had become clear what awaited Bond when the state legislature convened the following morning. Plotting over a meal of barbecued wild hogs at Atlanta’s Henry Grady Hotel, anti-Bond legislators agreed on how to make their case. They planned to invoke a dusty provision that allowed the assembly to punish “disorderly behavior or misconduct” with “censure, fine, imprisonment or expulsion.” Across town, Bond huddled with his SNCC colleagues and ten other Blacks elected to the new legislature. Bond was “really shaken” and “very, very scared,” according to John Lewis’s account. Some of the Black legislators urged Bond to issue what one report characterized as “a balancing patriotic statement.” But already white lawmakers had signaled a statement wouldn’t be enough. “This boy has to come before us humbly, recant, and just plain beg a little,” one white legislator had publicly suggested. By midnight, it seemed that “every other Negro in the delegation was against Julian,” according to Ivanhoe Donaldson. But then Jim Forman came into the room and made a passionate case for not backing down. Bond should not have to beg, Forman pointed out, for a seat to which the voters of his district had overwhelmingly elected him.



THE GEORGIA STATE CAPITOL IN Atlanta was a Corinthian-columned structure crowned by a gold-encrusted dome, on top of which rose a torch-bearing statue known as “Miss Freedom.” In front of the building stood statues that spoke to darker chapters in Georgia’s past. One likeness was of Tom Watson, a Gilded Age populist who soured into a white supremacist and anti-Semite; another was of General John Brown Gordon, a Confederate Army hero later suspected of secret membership in the Ku Klux Klan. In the House of Representatives chamber on the second floor of the building, rows of worn wooden desks faced an ornate dais. Above was a public gallery that for a century was segregated by race. In 1961, Bond had joined a group of Black protesters who quietly snuck into the whites-only area before capitol guards chased them away. “Mr. Doorkeeper, get those niggers out of the white section of the gallery,” a segregationist legislator bellowed as he pointed up from the House floor.

On the morning of Monday, January 10, 1966, Bond returned to the capitol to take his assigned seat in that same chamber. On a back-row desk sat a small metal name plate printed “136th—Julian Bond.” Bond was clad soberly in a three-piece blue suit, with a white shirt, thin dark tie, and a pocket watch dangling from his vest. Surprised, one white lawmaker quipped to Roy Reed of The New York Times that he expected Bond to be “bearded and unkempt,” instead of looking, as Reed put it, “as if he was on his way to a college dance.” As soon as Bond entered the room, he was escorted to his desk and instructed to remain seated while the 204 other elected legislators rose to be sworn in. While the oath of office was read, Bond tried to look as calm as possible. He pressed his fists against his chin and gazed into space, an outbreak of red hives across his mocha-colored face providing the only evidence of his inner distress.

After that mortifying spectacle, Bond was dismissed from the chamber while the House took up a petition for his ouster signed by more than seventy legislators. Exhausted from a sleepless night of drinking bourbon and chain-smoking Salem cigarettes, Bond attempted to take a nap in an empty back room. He placed three chairs together and struggled to straddle his lanky frame across them, then gave up and stretched out across a Formica-covered table. In the hallway outside, Jim Forman bucked up scores of pro-Bond demonstrators. Bond’s lawyer and brother-in-law, Charles Moore, phoned the two Black candidates who had lost the race for the 136th district and persuaded them to come to the capitol to testify on their rival’s behalf. Meanwhile, Bond’s father, Horace Mann Bond, fetched soup and crackers and fretted to newsmen about his son’s fragile state of mind. “He’s taking this harder than I wish he had,” the elder Bond told the Atlanta Constitution’s Bill Shipp. To Newsweek magazine’s Marshall Frady, he regretted that his son had ever gotten mixed up in politics. “My God, I didn’t raise my boy to be a Georgia legislator,” said Horace Bond. “I’d hoped he would go into a more academic occupation.”

When Julian Bond was summoned into the packed House chamber for a rules committee hearing that afternoon, the scene resembled a criminal trial. He was asked to climb to the dais in the front of the chamber to be questioned by a Republican former lawmaker named Denmark “Dennie” Groover, who had been assigned the role of prosecutor.

“Do you admire the courage of persons who burn their draft cards?” Groover asked, eyeing Bond disdainfully over the glasses perched on his nose.

“I admire people who take an action,” Bond replied carefully, “and I admire people who feel strongly enough about their convictions to take an action like that knowing the consequences they will face.” Bond’s voice grew firmer as he added he would never burn his own draft card or urge others to take such a step. “I have never suggested or counseled or advocated that anyone burn their draft card,” he insisted.

But Dennie Groover had a surprise in store. He had acquired a tape of Ed Spivia’s radio interview with Bond, and he played it over the House loudspeakers. Now everyone there could hear the exact words Bond had used: “I’m against all war…. I don’t think people ought to participate in it…. Because I’m against war, I’m against the draft.”

A hush fell over chamber, as if the existence of the tape was proof of guilt, no matter how measured Bond’s tone. His words were “treasonous” and provided “aid and comfort to the enemy,” Groover declared as soon as the tape finished playing. Next, a rotund, downstate oilman named Bobby Pafford came to the dais. Referring to SNCC as “Snick”—the way the group’s title was often spelled in the press—Pafford denounced “the infamous Mr. Bond” as “one whose Snicking pursues not freedom for us but victory for our enemies” and had despoiled the “fresh air and pleasant living known as Georgia.” At six in the evening, the rules committee went into private session and an hour later announced its verdict—23-to-3 for expulsion. The vote came as no surprise to the legislators and newsmen waiting outside. “I don’t even care if he’s innocent of making those remarks,” a Savannah Republican named Arthur J. Funk admitted to Newsweek’s Frady. “All these people tend to think that way, and every day he’s on the floor is a disgrace.” Another lawmaker demonstrated his contempt by swiping the metal name plate off Bond’s desk and announcing that he was going to “take this tag home and hang it on my outhouse door.”

The full House vote came quickly, and it was crushing: 184-to-12 for expulsion. Bond stared “at the tally board through a blur of tears,” according to his biographer John Neary. In the middle of the night, Jim Forman sent a telegram to Liz Sutherland, the head of the SNCC office in New York City, describing the scene. “Everyone, including Julian, is in a state of shock,” Forman wrote. The next morning, twenty-three U.S. congressmen wired telegrams to Georgia governor Carl Sanders protesting the ouster. Dr. King announced that he would cut short his California vacation and lead a protest march through the streets of Atlanta.

But by then, it was clear that the battle was lost, and that a long war to win back Bond’s seat lay ahead. The next day, when Bond met with Marshall Frady at Paschal’s restaurant, a local SNCC hangout, he was in such a state of fatigue and disbelief that he couldn’t finish his tomato sandwich. “It was the worst thing I’d ever been through in my life,” Bond confessed. “It was all like a play with everything unreal. I couldn’t believe it was happening.” Still, Bond vowed to keep fighting. “I intend to do everything I can to take that seat,” he said.



IN THE MONTHS LEADING UP to 1966, John Lewis had traveled the country in his role as SNCC chairman, meeting with donors and capitalizing on the fame he achieved on Bloody Sunday. Playing down internal tensions, Lewis tried to keep SNCC associated in the public mind with Dr. King’s strategy of nonviolence and search for legislative remedies to racial injustice. Lewis saw this as a reflection of his own personal beliefs but also as a fundraising necessity. By the beginning of 1966, SNCC was running a $200,000 deficit, hadn’t made payroll in several months, and was so far behind on its office bills that the phone company had cut back service at the Atlanta headquarters.

Now, even Lewis sensed that what had happened to Sammy Younge and to Julian Bond was shaking support for the old civil rights verities among his generation of activists. “The irony hit me very, very hard,” Lewis recalled thinking as he saw the American flag draped over Younge’s casket. “Here was a man who had served his country, a military veteran, and what had it gotten him?” A week later, Lewis was furious as he watched Bond leave the Georgia capitol in tears. “I couldn’t believe this…” Lewis recalled thinking. “Once again, we were getting screwed. Was it any wonder that people in the movement were bailing out right and left, abandoning all hope of appealing to and working through a system that would do something like this?”

For the SNCC generation, Bond’s ordeal also brought back bitter memories of the 1964 Democratic presidential convention in Atlantic City, and deepened the sense of disillusionment with mainstream party politics they felt after that experience. That drama had begun deep in rural Mississippi, when a group of brave local Blacks tried to register to vote for the first time. One was a stocky thirty-five-year-old native of Montgomery County with a resonant choir singer’s voice named Fannie Lou Hamer. The twentieth child of Cotton Belt sharecroppers, Hamer received an early taste of Southern racism as a child when a white man poisoned her family’s animal feed and killed off their mule and horses. She dropped out of school after the tenth grade to work on the farm, but knew how to read and do arithmetic well enough that she was later hired as a “timekeeper” on a plantation run by a sharecropping overseer named W. D. Marlow. When Hamer first attempted to register to vote in August of 1962, Marlow summoned her for a threatening lecture. “We’re not ready for that in Mississippi now,” Marlow said. “If you don’t withdraw, I’ll let you go.” Hamer refused to stop and was kicked off the plantation, and had to scrounge for rental housing and a job at a cotton gin while she continued her quest to claim her voting rights.

Once Hamer overcame Mississippi’s onerous literacy tests and poll tax requirements to become a legal voter, she threw herself into registering other Blacks with the help of organizers from SNCC. Excluded from the all-white primaries held by the state Democratic Party, the newly registered Blacks staged symbolic elections they called “Freedom Votes.” That campaign led to an even more daring undertaking after President Kennedy was assassinated and his successor, Lyndon Johnson, announced his candidacy for the White House. The plan was to challenge the segregationist state delegation that was set to represent Mississippi at the 1964 convention in Atlantic City by sending a rival, democratically elected slate of Blacks and whites under a new banner: the Mississippi Freedom Democratic Party (MFDP). “All my life I’ve been sick and tired,” Hamer told audiences as she barnstormed rural Mississippi, signing up new MFDP members by announcing her own candidacy for the U.S. Congress in the Democratic primary that June. “Now I’m sick and tired of being sick and tired.”

Although Hamer lost that primary bid, she helped to recruit thousands of MFDP members and to bring 2,500 of them to a state nominating convention in early August at the Masonic Temple in Jackson, Mississippi. Joseph Rauh, a well-known white civil rights attorney, agreed to represent the MFDP, and reams of legal briefs and background papers were produced to support the challenge. Sixty-four MFDP delegates were chosen, and on the last week of August they arrived in Atlantic City along with hundreds of hopeful supporters in a convoy of buses and cars. While the delegates checked into a small hotel where they shared beds and slept on the floor, scores of SNCC organizers kept a round-the-clock vigil on the oceanside boardwalk outside the convention hall.

In the absence of any suspense over who the Democratic nominee would be, the MFDP challenge became the biggest news story of the convention. When the credentials committee held a hearing on the matter, the major television networks carried it live. Dr. King spoke in support of the MFDP, but the highlight of the proceeding came when Hamer strode to a witness table to address the packed room of convention officials and reporters. Wearing a patterned dress, her hair curled, and her broad face gleaming under the TV lights, Hamer recounted the years of terror she had experienced seeking the right to vote. “We’re going to make you wish you were dead,” a white policeman told her after she was arrested and taken to a Montgomery County jail, where guards coerced two Black prisoners into beating Hamer on the hands and feet with a blackjack until her skin turned blue. “All of this on account of we wanted to register, to become first class citizens,” Hamer told the rapt gathering. “If the Freedom Democratic Party is not seated now, I question America.”

Still in Washington preparing to be crowned, President Johnson was irate that the Black delegates from Mississippi were disturbing the picture of party unity he hoped to paint, and threatening to provoke a walkout by white Southern delegates. As Hamer began her testimony to the credentials committee, Johnson forced TV networks to cut away by holding an unscheduled press conference at the White House at which he did nothing more than note the nine-month anniversary of Kennedy’s assassination. Yet Hamer’s testimony was so riveting that the networks re-aired it that evening, and she became even more of a national sensation. Just as it began to look as though the MFDP challenge might succeed, however, Johnson pressured members of the credentials committee to delay a vote and informed Minnesota senator Hubert Humphrey, whom he was considering for vice president, that he would get the nod only if he found a way of sidelining the Freedom Democrats.

Humphrey turned the job of coming up with a face-saving deal over to his political protégé, Minnesota attorney general Walter Mondale, who stood to be appointed to fill Humphrey’s Senate seat if his mentor was tapped as Johnson’s running mate. Mondale formed a subcommittee that, after long and tense deliberations, produced a short-term snub wrapped in a long-term promise. At future conventions, the Mondale group announced, the Democratic Party would no longer allow all-white convention delegations; and in the meantime, the MFDP would be offered two “at large” seats, which would allow a pair of Black delegates to sit on the convention floor without the right to participate in the nominating vote.

With tempers raging and nerves running raw, all the Black leaders present in Atlantic City crowded into a church near the convention hall to debate the token offer. Despite his televised pledge of support for the MFDP, Dr. King spoke in favor of accepting the compromise. He was joined by all the other veteran civil rights leaders in the room, including NAACP chairman Roy Wilkins, National Urban League president Whitney Young, and Bayard Rustin, the organizer of the March on Washington. Both furious and exhausted after the months of work they had put into supporting the delegate challenge, SNCC leaders told the room that the decision should be left up to the Freedom Democrats themselves. Fannie Lou Hamer spoke last, and in an unwavering voice made it clear that the Black delegates from Mississippi had no intention of accepting the demeaning consolation prize. “We didn’t come all this way for no two seats,” Hamer declared.

More insult was added to injury in the following days. Several white Mississippi delegates walked out of the convention anyway, rather than cast their votes for Johnson. Sympathetic Northern delegates slipped floor passes to MFDP members, but when they arrived to sit in the empty Mississippi seats the chairs had been taken away. On the boardwalk outside the convention hall, SNCC supporters continued to picket and sing freedom songs such as “We Shall Overcome” and “This Little Light of Mine.” But their hearts were no longer in it, and many recalled that week in New Jersey as the moment when they gave up on trusting in white liberal allies and the two-party political system. “Never again were we lulled into believing that our task was exposing injustices so that the ‘good’ people of America could eliminate them,” Cleve Sellers recalled. “After Atlanta City, our struggle was not for civil rights, but for liberation.”



SIXTEEN MONTHS AFTER THAT ATLANTIC City drama, Julian Bond’s humiliation in Atlanta moved one of his friends in particular. Dorothy Miller, known to everyone as Dottie, was a petite Manhattan native with pixie-cut dark hair, bottle-thick glasses, and a New York City accent as distinctive as any Southern drawl. She had been one of the first white volunteers to be hired at SNCC’s Atlanta headquarters, and for two years had worked side by side with Bond in the communications department, helping to put out press releases and the SNCC newspaper, as well as dealing with the press and taking affidavits from visiting field organizers.

Miller came to relish Bond’s wry sense of humor, and to trust her private confidences to his ironclad discretion. She rented an apartment with Julian’s sister, Jane, in a Black neighborhood of Atlanta, and they two women became like sisters. Jane and Julian formed part of a raucous, late-night interracial wedding party when Dottie Miller married one of SNCC’s other early white volunteers, an intrepid field organizer from Alabama named Bob Zellner. After their wedding, the Zellners moved north to New England for several years, but they were back in Atlanta in the winter of 1966 and Dottie became part of the private support network that rallied around Bond, helping him to recover from his setback and prepare for the fight ahead.

Yet in a poignant irony, the removal of Dottie and Bob Zellner’s friend Julian Bond from the Georgia legislature set in motion another year-long drama—one that would end with their own expulsion from SNCC. It began when Bill Ware, a SNCC organizer who had been working in the Deep South, moved to Atlanta to work for Bond’s reinstatement. Raised near Natchez, Mississippi, a river town in the southwest corner of the state, Ware was one of ten children born to a farmer named Walter Ware and his wife, Cebelle, neither of whom attended school past the eighth grade. Ware’s parents nonetheless had great reverence for education, and they encouraged their son to finish high school and seek a scholarship to St. John’s University in Minnesota. After graduating, Ware served two years as a lieutenant in the U.S. Army, then enlisted in the Peace Corps in Ghana, where he got swept up in the revolutionary spirit of the anticolonial struggles spreading across Africa and South America. Stern-faced and a lean six feet, Ware grew a scruffy beard that made him look like an ebony-skinned Che Guevara.

After teaching high school in St. Paul for several years, Ware returned to Mississippi to join the civil rights struggle, and quickly acquired a reputation for both daring and grandiosity. In the summer of 1963, he worked for the Council of Federated Organizations (COFO) to set up mock polling places for the symbolic Freedom Votes held by Mississippi Blacks who were kept from participating in the all-white state Democratic primaries. When Ware tried to use a white gas station restroom, a Natchez police offer clubbed him in the face, leaving him with a bloody jaw that required thirty stitches. The policeman proceeded to arrest Ware for reckless driving, whereupon Ware sent a telegram to President Johnson demanding that the Justice Department send an observer to his trial. Once the Civil Rights Act of 1964 was passed, the local NAACP announced a march on the county courthouse, but then canceled the plan after Natchez officials put the local National Guard on alert. At a public rally, Ware called for proceeding with the march anyway, in defiance of NAACP leader Charles Evers, whose brother Medgar had been gunned down the year before by a white segregationist. Evers had to shout over Ware’s bellicose interruptions, warning the crowd that “these outside agitators are going to get you killed.”

In 1964, Ware joined SNCC for Freedom Summer, the bold experiment to recruit and train as many as a thousand volunteers, many of them white college students, to register voters and set up schools for young children across the state of Mississippi. At the last minute, however, SNCC organizers decided that it was too dangerous for whites to work in Natchez and surrounding Adams County, which had its own wing of the Ku Klux Klan and was the site of frequent racial assaults. Along with his abrasive personality and affection for foreign revolutionaries, that experience helped explain the contentious attitude that Ware brought with him to Atlanta in 1966, when he moved into an impoverished corner of the 136th district known as Vine City to support Julian Bond’s effort to win back his stripped state House seat.

Working with a small team of organizers out of a two-room shotgun shanty, Ware soon shifted his focus from supporting Bond to what he boasted would serve as a new model for urban “political organization and education.” Dubbing his effort the “Vine City Project,” Ware set out to mobilize the neighborhood’s some 3,500 residents, who were 99 percent Black and had a median income of less than $3,000 a year, to fight eviction notices and protest lack of heating and other slum conditions. Ware put out a newsletter called the Nitty Gritty and threatened primary challenges against entrenched local Black politicians, ridiculing one of them as “a white woman although her skin is black.” At first, the Vine Street organizers received help drafting proposals from a white SNCC staffer named Jehudah “Mendy” Samstein, a one-time yeshiva student from New York City who had dropped out of graduate school at the University of Chicago to work as a SNCC field organizer and by 1966 was volunteering in the Atlanta office. Once the project was under way, however, Ware pushed for it to be run entirely by Black staffers. As the cold Atlanta winter turned to spring, that demand sprouted into a full-blown obsession. No longer limiting his complaints about whites to Vine City, Ware launched an aggressive and frequently insubordinate crusade to force SNCC to sever all its ties to white staffers and allies.

At the end of January 1966, however, no one following the broader civil rights struggle had any inkling of the anti-white insurrection brewing in Vine City. The eyes of the media and everyone else who kept track of the movement had turned to Chicago, where Dr. King was making the biggest news since his march from Selma.
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